S274340

2ND PETITION

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JORGE LUIS ESTRADA, et al, individually and as class representatives of employees similarly situated,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Cross-Respondents

VS.

ROYALTY CARPET MILLS, LCC., formerly known as ROYALTY CARPET MILLS, INC.,

Defendant, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Four, Case Nos. G058397, G058969

Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 30-2013-00692890 Judges Craig L. Griffin, Kim G. Dunning (Ret.), and Randall J. Sherman

Rudy Ginez, Jr., SBN 84978 GINEZ, STEINMETZ & ASSOC.

926 N. Flower St. Santa Ana, CA 92703

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeal error in affirming that Royalty had a good faith dispute as to whether its on-premises meal period policy was lawful and whether it was obligated to pay meal period premiums to Porterville employees, and therefore, the releases of the premium pay claims, are valid under Labor Code sections 206 and 206.5, where Royalty's defense of a "good faith" dispute, based either in law or fact, was unreasonable, unsupported by the evidence, and presented in bad faith?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal error in affirming that Royalty had a good faith dispute as to whether its on-premises meal period policy was lawful and whether it was obligated to pay meal period premiums to Porterville employees, and therefore, the releases of the premium pay claims, are valid, where Royalty stipulated it did not have any written "onduty" meal period agreements and did not pay meal period premiums, to any class members during the class period?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeal error in denying the Porterville class Labor Code section 203 waiting time penalties for Royalty's failure to pay Labor Code section 226.7 meal period premiums because Royalty's failure to pay was not willful in that Royalty had a "good faith" dispute as to whether its on-premises meal period policy was lawful and whether it was obligated to pay meal period premiums to Porterville employees?

STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Factual Summary

1. The parties.

Defendant, Royalty Carpet Mills, LLC, (Royalty) operated warehouses and carpet manufacturing facilities at various locations in California until June 14, 2017, when it ceased operations. Three facilities are relevant to this appeal. One facility was located in Tulare County in Porterville (Porterville). The two other facilities were located in Orange County on Dyer Road in Santa Ana (Dyer) and on Derian Avenue in Irvine (Derian). (Jorge Luis Estrada v. Royalty Carpet Mills, Inc. 3/23/2022 Opinion at 4 (Estrada Opn.)

All Plaintiffs worked as full-time, hourly employees at one of these facilities. [7 AA:1717] Jorge Luis Estrada (Estrada) worked at the Derian facility for about 3 1/2 years. [1 RT 108, 122] Paulina Nava Medina (Nava) worked at both the Derian and Dyer facilities for about 15 years [1 RT 223] Jose A. Garcia (J. Garcia) worked as a mechanic at both the Derian and Dyer facilities for about 13 1/2 [1 RT 291] Martin Garcia (M. Garcia) worked as a forklift driver and machine operator at the Derian facility for about 15 years. [1 RT 260-261] Rigoberto Moreno (Moreno) worked as a mechanic at the Porterville facility for about 12 years. [2 RT 327-328] Cipriano Perez (Perez) worked at the Porterville as a machine operator for about 28 years. [3 RT 477] Salvador Avila (Avila) worked as a machine

operator at the Porterville facility for 26 1/2 years. [3 RT 513] Martha Lara Leon (Leon) worked as a machine operator at the Porterville facility for about 16 years. [2 RT 412] Maria Suarez (Suarez) worked as a machine operator at the Porterville facility for about 15 years. [3 RT 447] Cindy Cleaver (Cleaver) worked as quality control at the Porterville facility for about 30 years. [2 RT 361] Arlette Ramos (Ramos) worked as a machine operator at the Porterville facility for about 12 1/2 years. [3 RT 497]

2. Royalty's policy of providing late first meal periods and failing to provide second meal periods to Dyer and Derian employees.

For years, Royalty suffered and permitted its employees to take meal periods at its Orange County facilities, with a late, first meal period violation rate of 69% to 70% at the Dyer and Derian facilities. [5 AA 1059-1060, 5 RT 817:6-23, 819:3-9] The class members working at these facilities were captive employees. Their supervisors controlled the timing of the meal periods, not the employees. This is evidenced by the fact that once litigation commenced in December 2013, and according to the testimony of Plaintiffs' expert Kenneth Creal (Creal), late first meal period violation rates dropped to 11% at the Dyer facility and to only 7% at the Derian facility. [5 AA 1059-1060, 5 RT 817:24-818:20, 820:9-15] Creal's analysis of the time records also showed no second meal periods recorded 98% of the time at the Dyer facility and 99.6% of the time at the Derian

facility. [5 AA 1060, 5 RT 822:3-823:12, 824:21-825:24, 5 RT 825:26-827:10, 6 RT 11139:15-1140:3, 1170:8-1171:23]

Robert Crandall (Crandall), Royalty's expert testified that his calculations for late first meal periods, and no second meal periods recorded were very similar to Creal's calculations. In response to the trial court's question "... if he (Creal) says 69 percent was late, what do you say?" Crandall testified, "On weighted average perspective, 65.7 percent at Dyer and 64.5 percent at Derian. [6 RT 1189-16-20] Crandall testified that he was not disputing Creal's percentages and that his (numbers) are a little lower and Creal's are a little higher. [6 RT 1191:3-8]

Throughout the class period, Royalty never investigated meal period violations at its Orange County facilities, nor is there a record of any investigation. There was no system in place to even alert Royalty of a meal period exception to trigger such an investigation, despite Royalty's use of a payroll system. [2 AA 328:7-330:16, 4 RT 720:16-722:14]

Royalty's HR Manager, Nora Gomez (Gomez), demonstrated Royalty's deliberate indifference towards meal period violations. Gomez never received any special training about the meal period laws and she never attended any seminars about the *Brinker* decision. [4 RT 722:23-723:6] Gomez never explained the meal period policies to any Royalty employees and did not recall discussing meal periods as part of the new hire orientation. [4 RT 723:7-10, 727:16-18,] She never provided meal

period training to any employees, managers, or supervisors at any time. [4 RT 728:1-728:15, 732:19-733:8, 733:26-734:6] She stated, "I didn't know there was a need for it." Furthermore, no one asked her for that training. [4 RT 720:7-15] Gomez testified she never provided exception reports showing missing, incomplete, or late meal periods, to the executive staff. [4 RT 720:16-725:1] Gomez did not know any procedure for payment of premium pay. [4 RT 724:21-24] She relied on supervisors to report all meal period exceptions to her. Gomez relied on manufacturing to report such violations, even though she knew and admitted that meal period violations were not even a concern to any manager or supervisor at Royalty. [4 RT 735:23-736:10]

3. Royalty's on-premises meal periods prevented Porterville employees from leaving the padlocked premises during their meal period.

At its Porterville facility, Royalty had a long-standing policy and practice of on-premises meal periods. Employees were not allowed to leave the premises during the 30-minute meal period and employees were paid their regular hourly rate for each meal period taken at the facility. [10 AA 2455:9-11, 2 AA 306, 318, 2 RT 336:69, 4 RT 658:14-25, 664:7-12 During their meal periods Porterville employees were required to remain at the facility. In fact, the gates to the parking lot were padlocked. Under this policy, the Porterville Plaintiffs never left the premises during the meal period and were never paid meal period premiums for the entire class

period. [2 RT 347:4-8 (Moreno), 2 RT 420:7-10, (Lara), 3 RT 484:2-485:4 (Perez), 4 RT 623:8-624:11 (Garza), 4 RT 657:26-658:13 (Johnson)]

Royalty paid Porterville class members at their regular hourly rate for 30-minute meal periods. [8 AA 1850:20-21, 4 RT 661:9-662:19] Royalty stipulated that it did not have any written "on duty" meal period agreements with any named Plaintiffs or class members and that it never paid premium payments for meal or rest periods to Plaintiffs or class members during the class period. [8 AA 1850:14-17]

4. Royalty enters into settlement and release agreements with 60 percent of the putative class members.

In August 2016, Royalty made settlement proposals to individual putative class members, offering them payments of varying amounts in exchange for a release of their claims. In all, 232 out of 388 putative class members accepted and entered into settlement agreements with Royalty (about 60 percent of the putative class), while 156 refused. The specific distribution among facilities was (1) for Dyer, 66 putative class members settled and 59 did not; (2) for Derian, 51 putative class members settled and 40 did not; and (3) for Porterville, 115 class members settled and 57 did not. Royalty provided putative class members offer letters and settlement agreements in both English and Spanish, which were substantially identical [except for amounts], and paid a total of over \$300,000 to these individuals. [Estrada Opn. at 4, 7 AA 1718, 8 AA 1850:25-1851:3]

Royalty made settlement offers, which included releases to Lara, Cleaver, and Suarez. [Exhs. 13, 15, 1 AA 169] They accepted the settlement offers, and in exchange for their signed release, Lara received \$595.07, Cleaver received \$688.88, and Suarez received \$543.05. [Exhs. 14, 16, 1 AA 175]

B. Procedural Summary

1. The complaints.

On December 13, 2013, Estrada filed a complaint against his Royalty alleging meal and rest period violations, penalties for inaccurate wage statements, and waiting time penalties. He also alleged UCL and PAGA claims based on the labor code violations. All claims were asserted individually except for the PAGA claim. [Estrada Opn. at 4, 1 AA 63]

On October 22, 2014, Estrada filed a second amended complaint (SAC) to add class action allegations and add Nava as a class representative. The SAC retained the PAGA claim and realleged Estrada's individual claims as class claims. The proposed class covered Royalty's employees at the Dyer, Derian, and Porterville facilities, specifically, "all current and former nonexempt employees of [Royalty], who worked in its carpet manufacturing and warehouse facilities in California at any time from December 13, 2009, through the date of judgment." [Estrada Opn. at 4-5, 1 AA 76-100]

On November 17, 2016, Estrada and Nava filed the operative third amended complaint (TAC) that added a declaratory relief cause of action and 11 new plaintiffs, including several who worked at Porterville. In all, TAC alleged seven class claims and one representative PAGA claim: (1) meal period violations; (2) rest periods violations; (3) penalties for inaccurate wage statements; (4) waiting time penalties; (5) penalties under Labor Code section 558; (6) PAGA penalties; (7) UCL violations; and (8) declaratory relief; [Estrada Opn. at 5, 1 AA 106-154]

In the SAC, the meal period claim was primarily based on allegations that Royalty failed to provide timely first meal periods and deprived employees of second meal periods. The TAC included these theories but also alleged Porterville had a unique policy that prevented employees from leaving the facility during meal periods. [Estrada Opn. at 5]

2. Class certification.

The case was certified as a class action on February 23, 2018. [7 AA 1718-1727, *Estrada* Opn. at 5]

The trial court certified a Porterville class consisting of "[a]ll former nonexempt, hourly employees of [Royalty], who worked at the Porterville carpet manufacturing and warehouse facility at any time from December 13, 2009, through June 14, 2017." The court also certified three subclasses within the Porterville class: (1) a meal period subclass to

determine whether Porterville's on-premises meal policy was lawful; (2) a rest period subclass to determine whether Royalty's rest period policies at Porterville were facially lawful; and (3) a release subclass to determine whether Porterville class members' settlement releases were enforceable. [Estrada Opn. at 7]

The trial court certified a Dyer/Derian class composed of "[a]ll former nonexempt, hourly employees of [Royalty], who worked at either the Dyer or Derian carpet manufacturing and warehouse facility at any time from December 13, 2009, through June 14, 2017." As with the Porterville class, the court certified three subclasses within this class: (1) a meal period subclass to determine whether Dyer/Derian class members were provided timely first meal periods and/or deprived of second meal periods; (2) a rest period subclass to determine whether Royalty's rest period policies at Dyer and Derian were facially lawful; and (3) a release subclass to determine whether the Dyer/Derian class members' settlement releases were enforceable. [Estrada Opn. at 7]

The trial court also certified subclasses for all derivative claims tied to the above certified issues, including claims for premium pay, wages statement penalties, waiting time penalties, and unfair business practices. [Estrada Opn. at 7]

3. Trial.

The action was tried over ten days in a bench trial before Judge

Sherman beginning in November 2018, and resuming in April, May, and

July 2019. Plaintiffs presented their case consisting of live testimony of all

named plaintiffs except Ignacio Valle; deposition testimony from Maria

Garza, Royalty's HR Manager at Porterville, Dennis Johnson, Vice

President of Manufacturing for Royalty in Porterville, Miguel Palacios, a

supervisor in the finishing department at the Derian facility, and Andrea

Greenleaf, President, and CEO of Royalty; live testimony from Yesenia

Flores, Royalty's HR Generalist, Nora Gomez, Royalty's HR Director; and

testimony from their expert witness, Kenneth L. Creal, CPA. [Estrada Opn.

at 8, 9 AA 2222-2234]

After Plaintiffs rested on the liability phase, Royalty moved to decertify the classes and for judgment under Code of Civil Procedure § 631.8. Following argument on Royalty's motions, [5 RT 880-944, 952-955] the trial court ruled on the issues raised. First, the court granted judgment as to Plaintiffs' third cause of action for wage statement penalties and the fourth cause of action for waiting time penalties. As to the former, the claim failed because the wage statements accurately reported what was paid. As to the latter, Plaintiffs had not shown that Royalty's failure to pay any wages was willful. Second, the court dismissed the portion of Plaintiffs' PAGA claim based on Porterville's on-premises meal policy due

to Plaintiffs' failure to exhaust administrative remedies. [*Estrada* Opn. at 8, 5 RT 980] Third, the court decertified both rest break subclasses at all three locations due to insufficient evidence supporting class treatment. [*Estrada* Opn. at 8, 5 RT 980:23-26] But the court denied Royalty's mid-trial request to decertify the Dyer/Derian meal break subclass, and it required Royalty to put on its defense to this claim. Likewise, it denied Royalty's motion as to the Porterville class's meal period claim, which was based on the onpremises meal policy. [*Estrada* Opn. at 8]

Following these rulings, Plaintiffs' expert witness Kenneth L. Creal testified regarding damages. [9 AA 2243) Royalty then presented its defense, which included testimony from two former employees, Rafael Avila, and Martin Cortes [9 AA 2253-54] The court then allowed Plaintiffs to present the testimony of a rebuttal witness [6 RT 1208-20] Plaintiffs presented the testimony of Octavio Molina Chavez who was both a nonexempt employee and a salaried supervisor during the class period. [6 RT 1224-26] After Mr. Molina's testimony, Plaintiffs rested. [Estrada Opn. at 8]

Before closing arguments, the court raised the issue of the proper limitations period for the Porterville class's on-premises meal period claim. Previously, Judge Dunning had found the limitations period for this claim commenced on December 13, 2009, which was calculated by applying a four-year statute of limitations to the date the action was initially filed,

resulting in a class period of December 13, 2009, through June 14, 2017. But the court noted Porterville's on-premises meal period policy was first alleged in the TAC which was filed on November 17, 2016. This issue was significant, as it would greatly affect any recovery of the Porterville class. The court directed the parties to address this issue in their closing arguments. [Estrada Opn. at 9; 6 RT 1276-78; 7 AA 1725]

4. Rulings and judgment.

On August 2, 2019, the court issued its written statement of decision. [10 AA 2412] and entered an order decertifying the first meal period and second meal period subclasses at the Dyer and Derian facilities, and also dismissing the PAGA claims for all aggrieved Dyer and Derian employees who were not named plaintiffs. [10 AA 2416-2421, 2415:15-21] The judgment was entered on January 16, 2020. [10 AA 2453-2465]

The court entered judgment for Royalty on the eighth cause of action for declaratory relief, ruling the release agreements are enforceable because there was a bona fide dispute as to whether Royalty owed the Porterville class any premium pay for meal period violations. [10 AA 2454:23-2455:3]

The court entered judgment for all Porterville class members on the first cause of action for failure to provide meal periods, and the seventh cause of action for unlawful business practices, and awarded aggregate

damages in the amount of \$562,220 as follows: A Porterville class member who did not sign a release was awarded premium wages from November 17, 2012, through June 14, 2017, and a Porterville class member who signed a release was awarded premium wages from August 24, 2016, through June 14, 2017, because Royalty because it continued its unlawful on-premises meal period policy at its Porterville facility after releases were obtained. [10 AA 2455-2456]

The court entered judgment for plaintiffs Estrada, M. Garcia who worked at the Derian facility, and Nava and J. Garcia who worked at the Dyer facility on the first cause of action for failure to provide lawful first and second meal periods, and on the seventh cause of action for unlawful business practices. They were awarded damages in the amount of \$4,212.38, \$9,311.49, \$9,690.28, and \$17,114.12, respectively. [10 AA 2457:1-1460:19]

Plaintiffs Estrada, Nava, M. Garcia, and J. Garcia also prevailed on the sixth cause of action for PAGA penalties, and they were awarded penalties in the amounts of \$7,300, \$300, \$10,100, and \$10,100, respectively, of which 75% of said amounts or a total of \$20,850 must be paid to the California Labor Workforce Development Agency (LWDA). [10 AA 2457:1-1460:19]

The judgment also denied Estrada, Nava, M. Garcia, J. Garcia, and the Porterville class members relief on the third cause of action for wage

statement penalties (Labor Code § 226) and on the fourth cause of action for waiting time penalties (Labor Code §§ 201-203). [10 AA 2462:1] Lastly, the judgment awarded all plaintiffs prejudgment interest at the rate of 7% per annum. [10 AA 2456:8-10, 2457:10-12, 2458:9-11, 2459:4-7, 2460:1-3]

5. The Court of Appeal's published opinion.

The Court affirmed that Royalty's on-premises meal period policy was unlawful and that Royalty owed premium pay to the Porterville class. However, the Court also affirmed that Royalty had a good faith dispute that its on-premises meal period policy was lawful, and therefore, the releases are valid. [*Estrada* Opn. at 12, 17]

The Court found that the trial court erred in failing to apply the relation back doctrine. The Court found that the Porterville on-premises meal period claim alleged in the TAC relates back to the SAC and therefore, the claim was remanded with instructions to recalculate the amount of premium pay owed to the Porterville class based on the period from October 22, 2010, through June 14, 2017. [Estrada Opn. at 26]

The Court reversed the trial court's order dismissing the Dyer/Derian PAGA meal period claim due to unmanageability and remanded the claim for a new trial. Additionally, the portion of the judgment awarding PAGA

penalties to Estrada, Nava J. Garcia, and M. Garcia was reversed. [*Estrada* Opn. at 19, 25, 48]

The Court reversed the court's order decertifying the Dyer/Derian meal period subclass claim and remanded it so that the claims may be retried in light of the *Donohoe v. AMN Services, LLC* (2021) 11 Cal 5th 58, (*Donohoe*) presumption to determine whether class liability is appropriate. [*Estrada* Opn. at 33, 42-43]

The Court affirmed that the trial court's award prejudgment on interest on section 226.7 premium pay was at the correct rate of seven percent. [Estrada Opn. at 43]

The Court affirmed the denial of derivative waiting time penalties to the Porterville class, and to Estrada, Nava, J. Garcia, and M. Garcia, individually, because it found that there was a good faith dispute as to whether Royalty's on-premises meal policy was lawful and whether premium pay was owed to Porterville employees, and therefore Royalty's failure to provide premium pay to Porterville employees upon separation was not willful. [Estrada Opn. at 46]

The Court affirmed the denial of derivative section 226 wage statement penalties.

6. The Court of Appeal denied Plaintiffs' rehearing petition.

On April 7, 2022, Plaintiffs filed a Petition for Rehearing seeking to correct the Court's decision regarding the validity of the releases and Royalty's claimed good faith dispute as to the lawfulness of its on-premises meal period policy. The plaintiffs' rehearing petition was denied on April 18, 2022.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The releases are unenforceable because there was no good faith dispute as to the lawfulness of the on-premises meal period policy and whether premium pay was owed to the Porterville employees.

Labor Code § 206.5 (a) makes releases "null and void" if the releases were obtained before payment of wages due has been made, and states:

An employer shall not require the execution of a release of a claim or right on account of wages due, or to become due, or made as an advance on wages to be earned, unless payment of those wages has been made. A release required or executed in violation of the provisions of this section shall be null and void as between the employer and the employee. Violation of this section by the employer is a misdemeanor.

Labor Code § 206 provides protection for employees in the context of settlement agreements over wage disputes and states:

In case of a dispute over wages, the employer shall pay, without condition and within the time set by this article, all wages, or parts thereof, conceded by him to be due, leaving to

the employee all remedies he might otherwise be entitled to as to any balance claimed.

Case law has provided an interpretation of what "concededly due" means. The mere assertion of a dispute, of course, does not automatically create a dispute. Read together, sections 206 and 206.5 provide that amounts required to be paid under section 206, i.e., amounts concededly due, may not be released. *Watkins vs. Wachovia Corporation* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1576, 1587 (*Watkins*); *Reynov v. ADP Claims Services Group., Inc.*, (2007) WL 5307977, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 30, 2007) (*Reynov*).

If a bona fide dispute exists as to whether the disputed amounts are actually due, then "the bona fide dispute can be voluntarily settled with a release and a payment—even if the payment is for an amount less than the total wages claimed by the employee." *Watkins* at p. 1587 (citing *Chindarah v. Pick Up Stix, Inc.*, (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 796, 803, (*Chindarah*).) The enforceability of agreements to release claims for Labor Code violations turns on whether there was a bona fide dispute over the employee's past wages when the releases were signed. When, based on the law and the facts, there is no bona fide dispute over the wages owed, an employer must pay the wages due without conditions.

In determining whether a "bona fide dispute" exists for the purposes of Labor Code § 206.5, courts have adopted the standard in California Code of Regulations, Title 8, § 13520, which provides:

- (a) Good Faith Dispute. A "good faith dispute" that any wages are due occurs when an employer presents a defense, based in law or fact which, if successful, would preclude any recovery on the part of the employee. The fact that a defense is ultimately unsuccessful will not preclude a finding that a good faith dispute did exist. Defenses presented which, under all the circumstances, are unsupported by any evidence, are unreasonable, or are presented in bad faith, will preclude a finding of a "good faith dispute."
- B. The law regarding meal periods and payment of premium pay for non-compliant meal periods, including the requirement to allow employees to leave the premises during the meal period was clear. There was no uncertainty or ambiguity.

Any reasonable person or attorney reading IWC Wage Order No. 1-2001, §§ 2 (G) and 11 (C), (D), *Bono Enterprises, Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 968, (*Bono*), *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court*, (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004 (*Brinker*), *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.*, (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1114 (*Murphy*), and even the DLSE Frequently Asked Questions on meal periods, would have been informed that unless employees are relieved of all duties and are free to leave the premises, the meal period shall be considered "on duty," counted as hours worked and paid for at the employee's regular rate of pay.

In fact, *Bono* was the first case in California to conclude that an employee must be free to leave the premises. This was because of the interpretation of the applicable IWC Wage Order No. 1-89 by the DLSE. Since Royalty relied on *Bono* as its authority for convincing the trial court

that its on-premises meal period policy was lawful, we set forth the most pertinent portions of the opinion.,

When an employer directs, commands, or restrains an employee from leaving the work place during his or her lunch hour and thus prevents the employee from using the time effectively for his or her own purposes, that employee remains subject to the employer's control. According to IWC Order No. 1-89, that employee must be paid.

(*Bono* at 975)

The language of IWC Order No. 1-89, subdivision 11(A) is not inconsistent with this interpretation: "Unless the employee is relieved of all duty during a thirty (30) minute meal period, the meal period shall be considered an `on duty' meal period and counted as time worked...."

(*Bono* at 975)

Even though Royalty paid the Porterville employees for their on-site meal periods at their regular hourly rate, as "hours worked", Royalty did not provide them with a lawful meal period because it failed to relinquish control and did not allow them to leave the premises during their meal periods.

The Supreme Court in *Brinker* summarized the duty to provide meal periods, as follows:

As these opinion letters make clear, and as the DLSE argues in its amicus curiae brief, the wage order's meal period requirement is satisfied if the employee (1) has at least 30 minutes uninterrupted, (2) **is free to leave the premises**, and (3) is relieved of all duty for the entire period. (DLSE Opn. Letter No. 1988.01.05, supra, at p. 1; Dept. Industrial

Relations, DLSE Opn. Letter No. 1996.07.12 (July 12, 1996) p. 1.) We agree with this DLSE interpretation of the wage order. (emphasis added)

(*Brinker* at 1036)

Section 512's mandate that employers "provid[e]" 30-minute meal breaks can be read as shorthand for the requirement contemplated in subdivision 11 of most of the IWC's wage orders: Employers must afford employees uninterrupted half-hour periods in which they are relieved of any duty or employer control and are free to come and go as they please. (emphasis added.)

(*Brinker* at p. 1037)

Further, if an employer, such as Royalty, does not relieve the employee and retains control over the employee, the employer must pay the employee both: (1) compensation for the time worked during the meal period, and, (2) the required premium pay at the employee's applicable wage. (*Brinker* at 1040 n. 19)

The FAQs that Royalty cites to support its argument is set forth below:

7. Q. Can my employer require that I stay on its premises during my meal period?

A. Yes, your employer can require that you remain on its premises during your meal period, even if you are relieved of all work duties. **However if that occurs, you are being denied your time for your own purposes and in effect remain under the employer's control** and thus, the meal period must be paid. [5 AA 1205]

However, the FAQ has text that Royalty failed to acknowledge. They ignored the following text:

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