#### CASE NO. S274340

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JORGE LUIS ESTRADA, et al., individually and as class representatives of employees similarly situated, Respondents, Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Cross-Respondents,

VS.

ROYALTY CARPET MILLS, INC., now known as ROYALTY CARPET MILLS, LLC, Petitioner, Defendant, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Three (Appeal Nos. G058397 [lead] & G058969; G059350 & G059681 [related])

Orange County Superior Court (Case No. 30-2013-00692890) The Hon. Randall J. Sherman, Department CX105, Trial Judge

Joseph L. Chairez, SBN 98698

#### INTRODUCTION

All three of Plaintiffs' issues for review are, in reality, a single issue: Whether the Court of Appeal erred in affirming the trial court's finding that a good faith dispute existed between Royalty Carpet Mills, Inc. and its Porterville employees regarding whether Royalty owed the one-hour premium penalty for onpremises duty-free meal periods, where it is undisputed that the employees were paid their full wages for that time. Because Plaintiffs disagree with the Court of Appeal's affirmance, they argue that the releases between Royalty and its Porterville employees must be voided under Labor Code §206.5(a), and Royalty must pay waiting time penalties under Labor Code §203.

Royalty, of course, believes that the trial court's ruling and Court of Appeal's affirmance are correct, because Royalty fully relieved the employees from duty *and* paid them full wages for their meal periods. However, correctness or incorrectness is not the standard here. For Plaintiffs to obtain review of the Opinion on this point, they must show that this Court's attention is needed either "to secure uniformity of decision" or "to settle an important question of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). They have not done so, and cannot do so. Therefore, Plaintiffs' petition for review should be denied.

#### **LEGAL DISCUSSION**

#### I. Standard for a Grant of Review.

This Court is, obviously, the court of last resort within the State of California. Its review of the Court of Appeal's opinion in a civil action is entirely discretionary. The California Rules of Court set out the limited bases for obtaining this Court's limited time and resources. Generally speaking, only two bases are operative: (1) a lower court's decision must be in conflict with that of another Court of Appeal opinion, requiring this Court to "secure uniformity of

- 4 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The other grounds for review listed in Rule 8.500(b) are plainly not applicable or present here.

decision"; or (2) the Court of Appeal opinion must present an unsettled "important question of law." Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

#### II. Plaintiffs' Asserted Issues for Review.

In their petition, Plaintiffs present three issues for review. However, all three boil down to the same point. Plaintiffs contend that the trial court erred in finding that Royalty's position that it did *not* owe one-hour premium penalties to Porterville employees – who were admittedly required to stay on-premises for their meal periods but were (1) fully relieved of all duty, and (2) paid full wages for those 30-minute breaks – was in "good faith." This "good faith" finding, in turn, supported the trial court's rulings that (1) the *Pick Up Stix*<sup>2</sup> settlements that Royalty entered into with certain employees, and the ensuing releases, were valid, and (2) Royalty did not owe waiting time penalties for not having paid employees the one-hour premiums. 7 RT 1400, 1411-1413.<sup>3</sup>

#### III. Plaintiffs Have Failed to Satisfy Rule 8.500(b).

Unfortunately, Plaintiffs' petition for review is really nothing more than a re-presentation of their arguments to the Court of Appeal. Plaintiffs claim that the trial and appellate courts both "erred." *See*, *e.g.*, Plaintiffs' Petition at 35. However, nowhere in the Petition do Plaintiffs set forth how review is needed to "secure uniformity of decision." Plaintiffs do not even assert, let alone demonstrate, that the Court of Appeal's Opinion is in conflict with another appellate opinion with respect to Labor Code §\$203 and 206.5. Similarly, Plaintiffs never assert, much less explain, how the affirmance of the trial court's upholding of the *Pick Up Stix* releases presents an "important issue of law," much less one that needs to be "settle[d]" by this Court. Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Chindarah v. Pick Up Stix, Inc. (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 796, 90 Cal.Rptr.3d 175 held that Labor Code §206.5 does not prohibit employers from obtaining releases of wage claims directly from employees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Citations to the Repoter's Transcript are in the format, "[Vol.] RT [Page(s)]."

Indeed, a word-search of the petition shows that Plaintiffs never even cite Rule 8.500, never use the word "uniformity," and (with one exception) never use the phrase "important question of law." Plaintiffs' statement of "Why Review Should Be Granted" spans a single page, and only three paragraphs. *See* Plaintiffs' Petition at 40. It consists of Plaintiffs' disagreement with the "state of affairs," a claim that "any argument employers and their attorneys make concerning a good faith dispute, no matter how ridiculous it is, will be approved to uphold releases," and a plea for this Court "to weigh in and state definitively the objective standard of good faith by which agreements that purport to release wage claims will be evaluated." *Id*.

None of this is a cogent or coherent argument that meets Rule 8.500(b)(1)'s standards. Because Plaintiffs have failed to articulate why review of the Opinion is needed to either secure uniformity of decision or settle an important question of law, the petition should be denied.

# IV. The Legal Standard for Wage Claim Releases Is Not Unsettled and Was Met Here.

Implicit in Plaintiffs' glancing, short-shrift invocation of the words "important question of law" and request that this Court "weigh in" is the notion that the law here is unsettled. It is not.

Labor Code §206.5 prohibits conditioning payment of wages "concededly due" on the execution of a release. If the employer does not concede that wages are due, then Labor Code §206.5 is not triggered. It's as simple as that. The only "good faith" test that is required is this: if the employer asserts a legal theory which, if adopted by the court, would make the wages not due, then the employer has a "good faith dispute" with the employee over the wage claim. *Chindarah*, 171 Cal.App.4th at 802; *Reynov v. ADP Claims Services Group, Inc.* (N.D. Cal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In their Conclusion, Plaintiffs perfunctorily state that this Court should grant the petition and "resolve the important questions of law it presents." Plaintiffs' Petition at 41. This is woefully insufficient to meet Rule 8.500's standard.

Apr. 30, 2007) 2007 WL 5307977 at \*3; Sullivan v. Del Conte Masonry Co. (1965) 238 Cal.App.2d 630, 634, 48 Cal.Rptr. 160 ("This is not to say, however, that an employer and employee may not compromise a bona fide dispute over wages. But such a compromise is binding only if made after wages concededly due have been unconditionally paid."), citing Reid v. Overland Machined Products (1961) 55 Cal.2d 203, 208, 10 Cal.Rptr. 819, 359 P.2d 251; 8 Cal. Code Reg. §13520(a) ("A 'good faith dispute' that any wages are due occurs when an employer presents a defense, based in law or fact which, if successful, would preclude any recovery on the part of the employee. The fact that a defense is ultimately unsuccessful will not preclude a finding that a good faith dispute did exist.") (emphasis added).

Lower courts are not having problems implementing the interplay between Labor Code §206.5's prohibition centered on "concededly due" and *Chindarah*/8 C.C.R. §13520(a) blessing of "good faith" disputes. Indeed, the fact that California appellate courts like *Chindarah* and federal courts like *Reynov* are both able to navigate these issues illustrates that there is nothing "unsettled" in the law. *Cf.* Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

Lastly, for what it's worth, this standard was met here. Royalty believed that because it both (i) relieved its Porterville employees of all work duties during their 30-minute meal periods, *and* (ii) paid them for those meal periods, it was complying with the law, and did not *also* have to pay the employees a one-hour premium simply because they were required to stay on-site. Prior to *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 273 P.3d 513, 139 Cal.Rptr.3d 315, this was unquestionably the case. *See, e.g.*, DLSE, Meal periods FAQs No. 5<sup>5</sup>; *Bono Enterprises, Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1995) 32 Cal.App.4th 968, 975, 38 Cal.Rptr.2d 549.<sup>6</sup> Even after *Brinker*, it remains <u>arguably</u> the case.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/FAO MealPeriods.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Bono was disapproved on other grounds by *Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 557, 574, 927 P.2d 296, 59 Cal.Rptr.2d 186.

Nothing in *Brinker* states that if a meal period is fully duty-free *and* fully paid, the employer must *also* pay the one-hour premium penalty. Royalty's assertion of a position blessed by *Bono* and the DLSE FAQs, and not foreclosed or precluded even by *Brinker*, clearly meets the *bona fide* standard.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs' petition for review should be denied.